## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

# FILED

SID J. WHITE

NOV 16 1995

JOHNNY HOSKINS,	)	MUV 10 1995
n/k/a <b>JAMIL ALLE,</b>	)	CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT
Appellant,	)	Chief Deptity Clerk
vs.	)	CASE NO. 84,737
STATE OF FLORIDA,	) )	
Appellee.	ý	
·		

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JAMES R. WULCHAK
CHIEF, APPELLATE DIVISION
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
Florida Bar No. 249238
112 Orange Avenue, Suite A
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114

(904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the pages of the record on appeal (including the transcript of the penalty phase of the trial) will be referred to by the symbol "R". The pages of the trial transcript will be referred to by the symbol "T". The symbol "SR" will be used to refer to the pages of the supplemental records.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant was charged with the offenses of: Count I -- First Degree Murder by strangulation of Dorothy Berger, Count II -- Burglary of a Dwelling (with a battery therein), Count III -- Sexual Battery with physical force likely to cause serious bodily injury, Count IV -- Kidnapping with intent to commit murder, sexual battery, robbery, or inflict bodily injury or to terrorize, and Count V -- Robbery (taking a motor vehicle). (R 2061-2063) Following a waiver of extradition from Cordele, Georgia, where the defendant was arrested, the defendant was arraigned and entered a plea of not guilty. (R 2069-2070, 2091-2092)

Trial by jury commenced on March 13, 1994, before the Honorable Harry Stein, Judge of the Circuit Court of the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Brevard County. (T 1) Defense counsel moved to prevent the court clerk from excusing members of the jury venire for reasons set forth in Section 40.013, Florida Statutes (1993), prior to an examination by the court. Counsel contended this was an improper delegation of judicial authority. (R 2315-2317; T21-23, 367-371) The trial court, citing to an administrative order allowing the procedure, denied the motion and further denied the defendant's request to proffer testimony of the court clerk concerning the procedure utilized. (T 367-371) A photocopy of the jury venire list for this case with notations by the court clerk was admitted as a court exhibit. (T 371-373; Court Exhibit #2)

During the state's case, the court admitted into evidence over objection numerous photographs of the victim. Two photos, State's Exhibits #21 and #26, were specifically objected to as being cumulative. (T 966-967, 988-989)

Following the presentation of evidence, the defendant moved for judgments of acquittal on all of the charges. (T 1539-1543, 1584) The court denied the motions. (T 1541, 1543, 1584) The jury returned verdicts finding the defendant guilty as charged. (R 2389-2393; T 1868-1869)

The case proceeded to **a** penalty phase, wherein the defense objected to the standard jury instruction and requested a special instruction of the aggravator of cold, calculated, and premeditated, which the court denied. (R 2443-2445) Following the penalty phase, the trial court reconsidered and granted a motion for a new penalty phase before a new jury. (R 2485)

Prior to the second penalty phase, the defendant requested an order allowing the defendant to submit, at the Public Defender's expense, to a PET-Scan test at Jacksonville Hospital, to determine more accurately the extent of brain damage to the defendant's frontal lobe, and for an order to transport the defendant for the test. (R 2501-2504, 2505-2507) Following a hearing on the motion, wherein the defense neuropsychologist, Dr. Harry Krop, testified that said test would be beneficial to his diagnosis (SR 35-80), the court denied the request to transport the defendant for the neurological test, claiming that the test would be highly suggestive at best and that the defense had not

presented competent evidence to justify the test. (R 2514; SR 78, 80)

The new penalty phase before a new jury commenced on October 3, 1994. (R 522) The defendant requested special instructions on heinous, atrocious, and cruel; that the list of aggravating circumstances was exclusive; that, in order to find the aggravator of avoiding arrest, it must be the dominant motive for the killing; and concerning the penalties on the other counts. These requests were denied. (R 2409, 2420, 2423, 2425, 2529, 2531, 2533-2534)

Defense counsel moved for a mistrial and requested a new penalty phase when the prosecutor made comments in his opening statements which, the defense claimed, were comments on the defendant's silence and failure to testify (R 1155, 1158, 1165, 1383-1387, 2556-2558, 2560-2565), including the statement (while pointing at the defendant):

MR. BEATTY [the prosecutor]: . . , Somewhere between Brevard County and Cordele, Georgia, she is beaten and strangled. We have no idea where. The only person who knows that is the man who did it to her (points).

(R 1165) The court denied the motion for mistrial, and the renewed motions for mistrial, finding that no error occurred, or if there was error, then it was harmless. (R 1170-1171, 1383-1387, 1644-1648, 2587) The defendant moved for judgments of acquittal on the aggravators of heinous, atrocious, and cruel; cold calculated, and premeditated; and witness elimination, which motions the court denied. (R 1640, 1642, 1643) The jury recom-

mended, by a vote of 12-0, that the death sentence be imposed. (R 2553)

The trial court imposed the death sentence on the defendant, finding as aggravators: (d) the killing occurred during the commission of a sexual battery or a kidnapping (to which the defense had stipulated), and (h) the murder was heinous, atrocious, and cruel. (R 2588-2592) The court found no statutory mitigating factors, noting that defense counsel had not requested any. (R 2593) The trial court did find **as** nonstatutory mitigating factors: (1) the defendant had a loving relationship with his family, but, without articulating any reasons, gave this factor little weight; (2) the defendant was a father figure to his siblings, but the court also without explanation gave it little weight; (3) the defendant had protected his mother from his father's violence, and received beatings for his intervention, again inexplicably giving this factor little weight; (4) the defendant has low actual and functional mental abilities, but gave this factor little or no weight because, the court claimed, there was no testimony that the defendant lacked the ability to conform his conduct to the law and no testimony that the defendant did not know that this killing was wrong; (5) the defendant has a mild brain abnormality, but once again the court gave this factor little weight, claiming that there was testimony that such damage could explain deviant behavior in some individuals, but that there was not evidence presented here which showed the defendant's brain impairment actually accounted for the crimes;

(6) Hoskins came from an impoverished and abusive background, which the court decided without explanation was of little or no weight; (7) the defendant was influenced by racial problems to drop out of school, again finding without explanation that this factor was entitled to only little weight; (8) the defendant helped support his family, giving them half of his wages and an automobile to his father, to which the trial judge also gave little weight without explanation; and (9) any other aspect of the defendant's life, to-wit: the defendant tended to his pets to which he gave affection, the defendant was adept at woodworking, making clocks and mantles, and that the defendant was not a behavioral problem at school, which factor the court also gave little weight without reasons. (R 2593-2597) In summary the court stated that, "for the reasons stated above," the mitigating factors were of little weight which could not counterbalance the aggravator of during the commission of a felony or of heinous, atrocious, and cruel:

The present case involves a series of rape, beatings, and a vicious murder.

No excuse or justification has been shown. The evidence clearly shows Dorothy Berger was victimized by a cold, cruel and heartless killer. Since the record supports two aggravators beyond a reasonable doubt and mitigators of insignificant weight, the Court finds the sentence of death to be appropriate.

## (R 2597) (emphasis added)

The court also sentenced the defendant to life imprisonment on the burglary count, life imprisonment on the sexual battery count, life imprisonment on the kidnapping count, and

fifteen years imprisonment on the robbery count, all of these sentences to run consecutive to the death sentence, but concurrent to each other. (R 2598)

A notice of appeal was timely filed. (R 2609-2610) This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On Saturday, October 17, 1992, Pansy Young, a friend of the victim, eighty year-old Dorothy Berger, spoke to her from 6:20 p.m. to 6:45 p.m., shortly before she disappeared. (T 839-841) Police were dispatched to Ms. Berger's home Sunday night, when neighbors discovered her door open and no one home. (T 815-818) When Officer Bonocore arrived, he discovered the television set and air conditioning on, and the bed unmade. (T 819-821) He observed a small amount of blood on the bedspread and a bent pair of eyeglasses and a green hand towel on the bed. (T 821, 825) One of the statues on the headboard had been knocked over and the bed was moved partially away from the wall. (T 821-822) Ms. Berger's purse was on the chair. (R 827) A shoe impression was visible in the dust on the floor. (R 832-834) There was no sign of a forced entry. (R 832)

On Saturday about dusk, Willie Hunt had seen the defendant, who stayed with his girlfriend in the house next door to the victim, driving a car which was similar to that owned by the victim. (T 809-810) Hunt did not observe any injuries, cuts, or scratches on the defendant. (T 811)

On Sunday at approximately 5:00 a.m., the defendant arrived at his parents' home in Arabi, Georgia, driving a car which appeared to be similar to that of the victim. (T 865-866)

The defendant borrowed a shovel and returned approximately twenty minutes later. (T 866)

On Monday, October 19, 1992, police in the nearby town

of Cordele, Georgia, stopped the defendant for a minor traffic violation while he was driving the victim's car. (T 880-881) A search of the car revealed vegetation and blood stains in the trunk. (T 901-903) Police went to the defendant's father's house who led them to an area where that type of vegetation grew, which was about a mile from the defendant's parents' home. (T 866, 868) There, they discovered the victim in a grave with her hands tied behind her back and a gag in her mouth. (T 911-912)

Analysis of the rope which had been used to bind the victim's hands showed that it was similar to rope discovered at the defendant's girlfriend's house next door to the victim's. (T 1185-1187, 1261-1265) A comparison of the shoe print left in the bedroom to the shoes seized from the defendant upon his arrest revealed similar general class characteristics, but no specific individual characteristics. (T 882, 1283-1295) An autopsy revealed that Ms. Berger had been raped. (T 1026) DNA analysis revealed that the semen found on the bed sheet and in the victim's vaginal vault could have been that of the defendant. (T 1444, 1448-1449)

The medical examiner testified that the victim had blunt trauma about her face, head, and neck. (T 956) She had contusions, lacerations, and abrasions on her face and head and a fracture to her cheek bone. (T 956, 974) The scalp laceration and a tear to her ear, which would have caused massive bleeding, was caused by a blow from a narrow instrument. (T 962-964, 976) These blows would likely have rendered the victim unconscious.

(T 963, 982-983) She also had a black eye and bruises where the gag was tightly tied. (T 969-971, 980-981, 985) The bruises could have been caused, the doctor opined, by fists or feet. (T 977-978) There were wounds to her hands and knees (which could have been defensive wounds or could have been caused by the victim falling down) and bruising and scraping on her arms (which could have been caused by her leg rubbing on something in the trunk of the car, or could have been caused by rubbing on a carpet at her house). (T 997, 1005-1006, 1010, 1025, 1039-1042, 1050; R 1327-1329)

Multiple areas of bleeding under the scalp indicated to the doctor that the injuries occurred while the victim was alive. The doctor could not tell the sequence of the blows, but stated that the victim would have lost consciousness upon receiving the blow to the head. (T 989) The doctor also found evidence of manual strangulation, which he determined to be the cause of death and occurring after the sexual battery and beating. (T 991, If conscious at the time of the strangulation, she would have lost consciousness within ten or twelve seconds of being strangled, the medical examiner opined. (R 1306) The victim also had fractures to seven ribs which the doctor believed was caused by pressure on the chest during the strangulation, like that of someone kneeling on the chest. (T 994-995) The blow to the head which rendered Berger unconscious could have been the first blow and, while it could have resulted in the victim regaining consciousness within fifteen to twenty minutes, the medical examiner opined, however, that she could have remained unconscious throughout being bound and gagged, raped, and strangled. (R 1280, 1285-1286, 1290, 1300, 1307, 1321) In conjunction with the other blow to the head, it could have extended the period of unconsciousness from minutes to days. (R 1319) If she was unconscious during the other injuries, she would not have felt any pain from those injuries. (R 1320-1321) Similarly, the victim could have been in a disassociative state or could have fainted, either of which would have ceased the sensation of pain. (R 1338-1339) The blood found in the trunk of the car could have been draining from the body over the course of many hours after death. (R 1330)

During the penalty phase, unrebutted testimony was presented concerning Johnny Hoskins upbringing and mental state. Johnny was the oldest brother in a family of seven children. (R 1390) His older sister is deceased, as is his youngest sister, Linda, dying of cancer in 1988. (R 1390, 1416) Her death affected Johnny quite harshly. (R 1403-1404) The father was a poor sharecropper who lived in a two-bedroom run-down shack without indoor plumbing. (R 1391-1392, 1394; Defense Exhibit #10; SR 3-19) While the children were growing up, the house had no heating other than a fireplace. (R 1392) Clothes were washed on a washboard. (R 1393)

Johnny's father had a drinking problem, which would cause him to be abusive to their mother, with each episode lasting some fifteen minutes, during which the children would be frightened to death, hoping against hope that everything would

soon stop. (R 1397-1398) Once Johnny was older, he would stand up to his father during the abuse of his mother, oftentimes getting shoved around and beaten with a fan belt. (R 1398-1400)

The family was often the object of racial slurs, causing Johnny to get into fights, which would result in him being suspended, which, in turn, would result in Johnny receiving more beatings from his father. (R 1400-1401) The children told their teachers about the racial abuse, but received no cooperation, the teachers acting like they did not care. (R 1401) This situation directly resulted in Johnny being forced to quit school. (R 1401-1402)

Once **Hoskins** quit school, he commenced work in farming, giving half of his pay to his family to put food on the table. (R 1401-1402) The defendant also used his pay to purchase an automobile for his father. (R 1403)

Johnny served as a father figure to his younger siblings, playing sports with them, and teaching them to drive. (R 1403, 1415, 1437-1439, 1447-1448, 1453-1454) He cared for his brothers and sisters and also cared for the family pets, and was good at woodworking, making clocks, fireplace emblems, and candle holders. (R 1416-1417, 1453-1454)

Hoskins comes from a family which includes members who suffer from nervous and emotional disorders, including manic depression and schizophrenia. (R 1439, 1444-1445, 1451) Young Johnny Hoskins did poorly in school from first grade on through. (R 1463) During second grade when he was tested he was well

below average intelligence, scoring only in the first percentile (meaning ninety-nine percent of the children were ahead of him).

(R 1471-1472) He was well below the fiftieth percentile on standardized achievement tests, which caused the school to place him in remedial classes since the third grade. (R 1464) Even in remedial classes, Hoskins was not achieving. (R 1464)

As a result he was referred to a school psychologist in 1977 at age fourteen, who diagnosed the defendant as having an I.Q. of seventy-one (which is in the lower three to four percent of the population), with a visual motor integration grade level of an eight-year-old. (R 1466, 1555) Johnny showed anxiety, dependency, insecurity, and hostility, and organic brain problems. (R 1466-1467, 1558) While he should have been referred to a neurologist for further diagnosis and treatment, he was not since there were no funds available for such referrals in the school district in 1977. (R 1467-1468) Thus, Johnny was instead placed in the class for educable mentally retarded students. (R 1468) His home situation revealed a culturally and economically disadvantaged background which had a lot to do with his failures in school. (R 1469-1470)

Once placed in the retarded class, Johnny's grades improved from D's and F's to C's in 1977-1978. (R 1474) In the ninth grade, he again began to have trouble academically again, with his grades dropping to D's and an F. (R 1475-1476) He dropped out of school during the year 1979-1980. (R 1474)

Once, while Johnny was chopping wood as a youngster, he

had an accident whereby the axe blade struck him between the eyes. (R 1414) Because of their poverty, Hoskins was not taken to a doctor for stitches and other treatment as he needed, but instead was treated with a home remedy consisting of placing a spider web on the wound to stop the bleeding. (R 1414) Additionally, Hoskins had been in two motorcycle accidents which may have rendered him unconscious and he was hit in the head with a bat about four or five years previously. (R 1545) Apparently as a result of these injuries, Hoskins had experienced some type of brain trauma. (R 1545-1546) An EEG revealed some abnormality to Johnny's brain. (R 1546) Neurological testing also revealed impairment and abnormality, also indicating brain damage to his frontal lobe which would affect his behavior pattern, although the neuropsychologist could not tell from the testing the exact location and extent of the problems. (R 1547) Further testing in the form of a PET-scan was recommended by the doctor to measure the exact location and severity of damage, and, coupled with more background information about other episodes of impulse control, would "shed more light on , . . the types of problems that may be causing the brain damage."  $(R 1549, 1560, 1573)^{1}$ 

Frontal lobe damage where the defendant's organicity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> However, the trial court denied the defendant the opportunity to utilize this testing to further establish his mitigation, even though the Public Defender's Office was going to pay for the tests and the only thing sought of the court and county was the order for the test and an order to transport the defendant to Jacksonville Memorial Hospital, where the test could be administered. <u>See</u> Point II, <u>infra;</u> R 2501-2504, 2505-2507, 2514; SR 35-80.

seemed to be centered, the doctor testified, controls the stop/start mechanism of behavior, causing the person to have difficulty stopping behaviors once they are begun, (R 1549-1551) This would indeed apply to violent behavior; the neuropsychologist describing it as a "rage reaction," causing the person to go way beyond what is necessary in terms of the violent acts, or into a frenzy. (R 1551-1552) It is an explosive kind of behavior, where the person feels as if he cannot control himself. (R This diagnosis is consistent with the type of violent behavior present in the instant case, where the individual had difficulties controlling his impulses once they got started. (R Based on the testing and data available to Doctor Krop, he was unable to specifically apply these deficits to the defendant with any certainty; the doctor could only say that individuals who have the kind of test performance that Mr. Hoskins had often show this type of impairment and this type of behavior pattern. 1567-1568)

Dr. Krop also opined that the rape of an eighty-year-old was generally a crime of impulse, not the type of crime that was planned. (R 1574) Similarly, the after-the-fact type of covering up the crime, such as binding and gagging and disposing of the body, do not necessarily suggest planning of the crime. (R 1575)

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

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