## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEB 1.5 1996

JOHNNY HOSKINS, n/k/a/ JAMIL ALE, CLERK, SUPREME COURT By \_\_\_\_\_\_\_\_Criter Deputy Sterk

APPELLANT,

CASE NO. 84,737

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

APPELLEE.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLA. BAR # 0998818
444 SEABREEZE BLVD.5TH FLOOR
DAYTONA BEACH, FL. 32118
(904) 238-4990

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

#

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

This court has accepted the expert opinion of the medical examiner that the homicide of Dorothy Berger was the result of strangulation or suffocation, with such force her thyroid cartilage was fractured. The medical examiner was unable to state whether Dorothy Berger was conscious during the strangulation.

However, she clearly was conscious during the savage beating, as evidenced by the defensive wounds. This savage beating shows the defendant's desire to inflict a high degree of pain. The brutal senseless beating inflicted on Dorothy Berger sets this crime apart from the norm of capital felonies and clearly reflects the conscienceless, pitiless and unnecessarily torturous nature of this crime. **Scott v. State, 494 So.** 2d 1134 (Fla. 1986).

Evidence that a victim was severely beaten while warding off blows before being killed has been held sufficient to support a finding that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel. Wilson v. State, 493 So. 2d 1019 (Fla. 1986). The Court finds that the State has proven the murder was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel because of severe beating and violent rape of Dorothy Berger. Taylor v. State, 630 So. 2d 1038 (Fla. 1993).

(R 2590-92.) Those findings by the sentencing court are fully supported by the record, and establish beyond a reasonable doubt that this murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. No case cited by Hoskins compels a different result.<sup>29</sup>

Florida law is settled that strangulation murders are virtually per se heinous, atrocious, or cruel. Hitchcock v. State, 578 So. 2d 685 (Fla. 1990), rev'd. on other grounds, 614 So.2d 483 (1993). Florida law is likewise settled that the ordeal of the victim is the focus in determining whether the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator applies. See, e.g., Copeland v. State, 457 So. 2d 1012 (Fla. 1984); Stano v. State, 460 So. 2d 890 (Fla. 1984); Clark v. State, 443 So. 2d 973 (Fla. 1983); see also, Preston v. State, 607 So. 2d 404, 409-10 (Fla. 1992); Rivera v. State, 561 So.

<sup>20</sup> 

*Teffeteller* and Porter, which are relied upon by Hoskins, were both gun murders, and cannot rationally be compared to a beating/kidnapping/rape/strangulation murder like this one.

2d 536, 540 (Fla. 1990); Chandler v. State, 534 So. 2d 701, 704 (Fla. 1988); Phillips v. State, 476 So.2d 194 (Fla. 1985); Mason v. State, 438 So. 2d 374 (Fla. 1983); Adams v. State, 412 So. 2d 850 (Fla. 1982). Moreover, as this court held in Magill, 'it is the entire set of circumstances surrounding the killing" that makes a murder especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. Magill v. State, 386 So. 2d 1188 (Fla. 1980), cert. denied, 101 S.Ct. 1384 (1981), appeal upon remand, 428 So. 2d 649, 651 (Fla. 1989). As the trial court's order demonstrates, the circumstances of this murder are so barbaric that quantification is difficult. The ordeal endured by Ms. Berger clearly establishes that her murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel, and it strains credulity to suggest that that aggravating circumstance is not properly found in this case.

The second component of this claim, that Hoskins did not intend for the murder to be unnecessarily tortuous, has no legal basis. In arguing to the contrary, Hoskins perpetrates the myth of an "intent element" by arguing that Omelus v. State, 584 So. 2d 563 (Fla. 1991), and Teffeteller v. State, 439 So. 2d 843 (Fla. 1983), stand for that proposition. Neither of those cases compel (or even suggest) the conclusion that a "tortuous intent" requirement has been grafted onto the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator.

Both of those cases were decided based upon their peculiar facts which bear no resemblance to the facts of this case. Moreover, the precise claim contained in Hoskins' brief has been expressly rejected by this court, and there is no reason to revisit the issue. See, e.g., Taylor v. State, 638 So. 2d 30, 34n.4 (Fla. 1994); Hitchcock v. State, 578 So. 2d at 692 ("that Hitchcock might not have meant the killing to be unnecessarily tortuous does not mean that it actually was not unnecessarily tortuous and therefore, not heinous, atrocious, or cruel"). There is no error in the trial court's finding that the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating circumstance applies to this case, and Hoskins' sentence of death should be affirmed.<sup>30</sup>

Alternatively, without conceding the presence of any error, even if the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator should not have been found, there remains the undisputed aggravator of murder during the course of sexual battery with force likely to cause

<sup>30</sup> 

To the extent that **Hoskins** may **claim that the** murder was "impulsive", that claim cannot survive scrutiny. See pp. 43-47, above. To the extent that **Hoskins** claims, on **p**. 55 of his brief, that "he simply could not stop because of his frontal lobe damage" which caused a "rage reaction", that claim is inconsistent with his assertion that he cannot present all of his mental state mitigation because he did not receive a PET-Scan, Apparently **Hoskins** is able to make this argument in the absence of the PET-Scan. In any event, the state suggests that the "rage reaction" argument is similar to the argument that was rejected in *Bertolotti* as frivolous. See, *Bertolotti* v. *State*, 534 So.2d. 386, 389 (Fla. 1988).

personal injury and kidnapping. (R 2589). As the serious aggravator, standing alone, is court found, that sentencing sufficient to outweigh the minimal mitigation under these facts. Even if this court should decide that this murder was (R 2597). atrocious, or cruel, especially heinous, the remaining aggravation is sufficient to support a death sentence. If there was error, and the state contends that there was not, that error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. DiGuilio, supra. 32

## IV. THE FLORIDA DEATH PENALTY ACT IS CONSTITUTIONAL

On pp. 57-68 of his brief, Hoskins sets out some 16 claims and sub-claims that argue various perceived deficiencies in the Florida sentencing structure. At no point in this argument does Hoskins make any reference to the record. Each claim and sub-claim contained in Point IV (which is mislabeled Point VIII) has already been decided adversely to Hoskins' position. In addition, a number of the "claims" Hoskins purports to raise are procedurally barred

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Hoskins stipulated that this aggravator exists.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> In addition to the aggravators found by the sentencing court, the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravator should also have been found. See pp. 63-67, below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> In fact, Hoskins is referred to, in this argument, as the "Appellant". Interestingly, that appellation is used nowhere else in his brief. Apparently, this claim is simply a boiler plate argument.

because they were not raised at trial. In the case of those procedurally barred claims, this court should expressly base its denial of relief on procedural bar grounds. See, e.g., Hunter v. State, 660 so. 2d 244 (Fla. 1995). Each claim and sub-claim is separately addressed below.<sup>34</sup>

# 1. The Jury

a) Standard Jury Instructions

To the extent that the first paragraph on page 57 of Hoskins' brief may be an attempt to present an issue for review, the underlying argument is indecipherable. This paragraph states no more than the argumentative and unsupported conclusion of its writer. It is insufficient to brief an issue for appellate review and is, in any event, procedurally barred because this claim was not raised in a timely manner below. Steinhorst, supra.

1. Heinous, Atrocious, or Cruel

On pp. 57-58 of his brief, Hoskins argues that the heinous, atrocious, or cruel standard jury instruction 'does not limit and define the heinous, atrocious, or cruel circumstance". However, the jury instruction given in Hoskins' case was the Proffitt instruction which this court expressly upheld in Preston v. State,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> The state follows **Hoskins**' numbering system to avoid confusion.

607 So. 2d 404, 410 (Fla. 1992), and Power v. State, 605 So. 2d 856, 864-5 n.10 (Fla. 1992). 35 Hoskins' claim is foreclosed by binding precedent. See, e.g., Johnson v. State, 660 So. 2d 637 (Fla. 1995); Hannon v. State, 638 So. 2d 39, 43 n.3 (Fla. 1994). To the extent that footnote four on p. 58 of Hoskins' brief is sufficient to present any claim that some "tortuous intent" is required before the HAC aggravator can be found, that claim is foreclosed by binding precedent for the reasons set out at pp. 48-54, above. See, e.g., Hitchcock v. State, supra.

# b) Majority Verdicts

On p.58 of his brief, Hoskins argues that the death penalty act is unconstitutional 'because it places great weight on margins for death as slim as a bare majority", This claim was superficially raised at trial. (R 2233). Hoskins is not entitled to relief on this claim because it is foreclosed by binding precedent. See, e.g., Hunter v. State, supra at 252-3 (rejecting

Heinous means extremely wicked or shockingly evil, Atrocious means outrageously wicked and vile. Cruel means designed to inflict a high degree of pain with utter indifference, or even enjoyment of, the suffering of others The kind of crime intended to be included as heinous, atrocious, or cruel is one accompanied by additional acts-that show that the crime was conciouless or pitiless and was not-correction--and was unnecessarily tortuous to the victim. (TR 1895-6).

<sup>35</sup> The instruction given to Hoskins' penalty phase jury was:

identical claim); James v. State, 453 So. 2d 786, 792 (Fla. 1984).

c) Aggravators as an Element of the Crime

On p. 59 of his brief, Hoskins argues that the absence of a requirement that aggravating circumstances be unanimously found by the jury is unconstitutional because the aggravators themselves are 'elements of the crime." This claim is procedurally barred because it was not raised at trial. Steinhorst v. State, supra. Even if not procedurally barred, this claim is foreclosed by binding precedent. See, e.g., Jones v. State, 569 So. 2d 1234 (Fla. 1990); See also, Hildwin v. Florida, 490 U.S. 639, 109 S.Ct. 2055, 104 L.Ed.2d 728 (1989).

#### d) The Caldwell Claim

On p. 59 of his brief, Hoskins argues that the standard jury instructions 'do not inform the jury of the great importance of its penalty verdict", resulting in a violation of Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320, 105 S.Ct. 2633, 86 L.Ed.2d 231 (1985). This claim is procedurally barred, Steinhorst, supra, but, even had it been preserved, it would not be grounds for relief because it is foreclosed by binding precedent. See, e.g., Hunter, supra, at 252-3.

#### 2. Counsel

On pp. 59-60 of his brief, Hoskins argues that court-appointed

counsel in capital cases are inadequate. This claim is procedurally barred because it was not preserved for appeal, and, even had it been preserved, it is foreclosed by binding precedent. See, *Hunter*, *supra*, at 253 (holding identical claim to be procedurally barred and alternatively meritless).

#### 3. The Trial Judge

On p. 60 of his brief, Hoskins argues that he is entitled to relief because of the trial judge's "ambiguous role" in Florida's capital sentencing scheme. This claim is procedurally barred because it was not preserved properly for appeal, Steinhorst, supra, and, even had it been preserved, it is foreclosed by binding precedent. Hunter, supra (holding identical claim to be procedurally barred and alternatively meritless).

#### 4. Appellate Review

#### a) **Proffitt**

On p. 60 of his brief, Hoskins argues that this court has not adhered to the requirements of Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242 (1976). This claim is procedurally barred because it was not properly preserved for appellate review by timely objection.

Steinhorst, supra. Even if this claim had been preserved, it is not a basis for relief because it is foreclosed by binding precedent. Hunter, supra, at 253.

#### b) Aggravating Circumstances

On pp. 61-62 of his brief, Hoskins argues that the aggravators are applied inconsistently at the appellate level. This claim is procedurally barred because it was not properly preserved for appellate review by timely objection. Steinhorst, supra. Even if this claim had been preserved, it is not a basis for relief because it is foreclosed by binding precedent. Hunter, supra, at 253.

#### c) Appellate Re-Weighing

On pp. 62-63 of his brief, Hoskins argues that the Florida Death Penalty Act does not have 'the independent appellate reweighing of aggravating and mitigating circumstances required by Proffitt". This claim is procedurally barred because it is not properly preserved for appellate review. Steinhorst, supra. Even if this claim had been preserved, it is foreclosed by binding precedent. Hunter, supra, at 253.

#### d) Procedural Technicalities

On p. 63 of his brief, Hoskins argues that the contemporaneous objection rule "has institutionalized disparate application of the law in capital sentencing." This claim is procedurally barred because it is not properly preserved for appellate review. Steinhorst, supra. Even if this claim had been preserved, it is foreclosed by binding precedent. Hunter, supra, at 253 (holding

identical **claim** to be procedurally barred and alternatively meritless.)

#### e) Tedder

On pp. 64-64 of his brief, Hoskins argues that "[t]he failure of the Florida Appellate Review Process" is demonstrated by the inability of this court to apply the Tedder Rule consistently. This claim is procedurally barred because it is not properly preserved for appellate review. Steinhorst, supra. Even if this claim had been preserved, it is foreclosed by binding precedent. Hunter, supra, at 253.36

# 6. Other Problems With The Statue<sup>37</sup>

a) Lack of Special Verdicts

On pp. 64-65 of his brief, Hoskins argues that the Death Penalty Act is invalid because it does not provide for special verdicts. The aggravation/mitigation special verdict component of this claim was partially raised by pre-trial motion (R 2234), but

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Because Hoskins' penalty phase jury recommended death by a vote of twelve-zero, the **Tedder** Rule is not implicated, anyway.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Hoskins has given this heading the number six (6) even though there is no heading that bears the number five (5). Again, the state has adhered to Hoskins' numbering system to avoid confusion.

the felony murder/premeditated murder component was not. The felony murder/premeditated murder component is procedurally barred because it was not properly preserved by timely objection. Steinhorst, supra. The aggravation/mitigation component is foreclosed by binding precedent, and is not a basis for relief. Likewise, the felony murder/premeditated murder component is also foreclosed by binding precedent. Hunter, supra; Patten v. State, 598 So. 2d 60 (Fla. 1992); Jones v. State, 569 So. 2d 1234 (Fla. 1990).

b) No Power To Mitigate

On p. 65 of his brief, **Hoskins** argues that 'the prohibition against mitigation of a death sentence under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.800 is unconstitutional". This claim is procedurally barred and, alternatively, foreclosed by binding precedent. See, e.g., Hunter, supra, (rejecting identical claim).

c) Florida Creates A Presumption Of Death

On PP. 65-66 of his brief, Hoskins argues that the death penalty act 'creates a presumption of death where, but a single aggravating circumstance appears." This claim is procedurally barred and, alternatively, foreclosed by binding precedent.

Hunter, supra, (rejecting identical claim).

d) Florida Unconstitutionally Instructs Juries Not To Consider

# Sympathy

On pp. 66-67 of his brief, Hoskins argues that the antisympathy jury instruction is unconstitutional. Despite Hoskins' claim to the contrary, this claim is procedurally barred because it was not raised at trial. In fact, the arguable anti-sympathy jury instruction was given at the request of the defendant. (R 2540-41). No issue is preserved for review, and it would make no sense at all to allow the defendant to seek reversal of his sentence because the instructions that he requested were given. Moreover, even had this claim been preserved for review, it has been expressly rejected by this Court and the United States Supreme Court. Hunter, supra; Saffle v. Parks, 494 U.S. 484, 110 S.Ct. 1257, 108 L.Ed.2d 415 (1990).38

#### e) Electrocution Is Cruel and Unusual

On pp.67-68 of his brief, Hoskins argues that death by electrocution is cruel and unusual punishment. This claim is procedurally barred from review because it is not properly preserved. Moreover, even had this claim been preserved, it is foreclosed by binding precedent. Hunter, supra; see also, Buenoano

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